**RECEIVED**

**Sep 28 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

---

HOLLY JO THOMPSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2021-000846

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

JESSICA M. SAXON  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel inexplicably failed to pursue a pre-trial immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was indicted during the April 2014 term of the Richland County grand jury for one count of murder. App. 861-862. The State, represented by Luck Campbell, Meghan Walker, and Laura Gregg, called the case to trial on February 16, 2016, before the Honorable Robert Hood and a jury. Petitioner was represented by Robert Bank, Alicia Goode, and Rhodes Bailey. App. 1. As she had from the beginning, Petitioner asserted she acted in self-defense. App. 95, ll. 22-24. After a four-day trial, Petitioner was found guilty of murder and sentenced to forty-five years imprisonment. App. 758; App. 773, ll. 3-5.

Petitioner's conviction and sentence was affirmed on direct appeal. State v. Thompson, Op. No. 2018-UP-258 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 13, 2018). Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief on August 29, 2018, alleging ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to call character witnesses and for failing to request Petitioner submit to a mental health evaluation. App. 776-781. The State filed a return dated January 10, 2019, requesting an evidentiary hearing. App. 783-790. A hearing was convened on October 29, 2019, before the Honorable Brian M. Gibbons. Petitioner was represented by Jonathan Waller. The State was represented by Samuel Key. App. 791. At the hearing, Counsel Waller proceeded on the claims of ineffective assistance of counsel raised in the original application. At the close of the hearing, Counsel Waller moved to amend the pleadings to conform to the evidence to include that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to seek immunity prior to trial. App. 794-795; App. 836, ll. 4-10.

The PCR court issued an order of dismissal on July 28, 2021, finding that Petitioner had failed to meet her burden of proof regarding her claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. App. 840-858. On the failure to seek immunity claim, the court found that Petitioner's trial lawyers

were not deficient because they “articulated a valid strategy of focusing the defense efforts on pursuing a theory of self-defense.” App. 857. Petitioner filed a timely notice of appeal from the order dismissing her PCR application. A petition for writ of certiorari was filed on June 13, 2022. The State filed a return to the petition for writ of certiorari on September 23, 2022. By order dated October 16, 2022, our Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court. This Court granted certiorari on August 18, 2023. This brief of petitioner follows.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839-40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. (citing Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. Id.

## ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in denying Petitioner relief where trial counsel inexplicably failed to pursue a pre-trial immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

### **Relevant Facts**

#### *Trial Testimony*

On January 27, 2014, Odell Middleton discovered the body of James Solomon (Decedent)<sup>1</sup> on the floor of the Decedent's trailer and called 911. App. 103, l. 20-App. 104, l. 7; App. 112, ll.13-17. Middleton saw that there was blood and broken glass around the Decedent's head. He also noted signs of a struggle in the home, such as the rugs being "kicked" and "tangled" up, and the "sheets and stuff" having been "tore up on the bed." App. 104, l. 18-App. 105, l. 18; App. 109, ll. 5-13.

Investigators with the Richland County Sheriff's Department responded and processed the scene. Evidence collected included various blood swabs from the hallway, bedroom, and living room, a knife from the bedroom with blood on it, the bedroom sheets, and pieces of a glass vase. App. 267, l. 5-App. 268, l. 21. The blood evidence recovered from the home matched the Decedent. App. 382-398. A palm print in blood on the neck piece of a glass vase was matched to Holly Jo Thompson (Petitioner). App. 172, l. 24-App. 174, l. 4; App. 360, ll. 10-16.

An autopsy revealed that the Decedent had died from exsanguination due to multiple blunt and/or sharp force injuries. App. 322, ll. 21-24. The blunt force injuries were contained to the head with several superficial or shallow cuts to other parts of the body. App. 312, ll. 19-24; App. 318, ll. 11-18. A toxicology of the Decedent revealed alcohol, cocaine, and cocaine metabolites were present in his blood at the time of his death. Based on the levels of cocaine and

---

<sup>1</sup> Decedent was found approximately two to three days after his death. App. 324, ll. 4-5.

cocaine metabolites in his blood, an expert with SLED opined that it was very possible the Decedent had taken multiple doses of cocaine on the day of his death and that the drug was influencing him at the time of his death. App. 612, ll. 7-23; App. 614, l. 23-App. 615, l. 8.

Petitioner was arrested for the murder of Decedent. At the time of her arrest, Petitioner told officers that she had been at the Decedent's home the night of the incident but that she "didn't kill the man." App. 628, ll. 10-14. Both before and during trial, Petitioner stated that she worked as a prostitute and that the Decedent was a regular client of hers. He would generally provide her with drugs in exchange for sex. App. 522, ll. 2-13; App. 523, ll. 21-25. In the roughly nine months to a year that Petitioner had known the Decedent, they had engaged in sex for drugs and/or money over one hundred times. App. 522, l. 22-App. 523, l. 2; App. 635, ll. 19-22. Petitioner testified that the Decedent built grills for a living and was known as the "Grill Man." She described him as a big man that was very strong. App. 523, ll. 3-18

On the night of the incident, Petitioner received a message from her then boyfriend/pimp, Michael Richardson, that the Decedent wanted her to come over to his trailer. App. 420, ll. 1-4; App. 524, ll. 13-16; App. 538, ll. 19-20. When she arrived, the Decedent let her into his home where the two began conversing. Petitioner noted it was extremely warm in the trailer, and she started to undress. She also thought that the Decedent was acting funny when she arrived and was not himself. The two used crack cocaine together, and Petitioner tried multiple times to engage the Decedent in various forms of sex, but he was unable to achieve or maintain an erection. App. 526, ll. 16-App. 527, l. 7. As the evening progressed the pair continued smoking crack cocaine. Petitioner would attempt to arouse the Decedent, but he was unable to perform sexually and began to become angry. App. 528, ll. 10-App. 529, ll. 10.

After attempting to engage the Decedent in sex multiple times without success, Petitioner decided it was time for her to leave. However, when she tried to leave, the Decedent started to yell at her to give him his money and crack back, and repeated stated that he was going to kill her. He grabbed a knife that he had been using to cut the crack cocaine with and began to swing it at Petitioner. App. 529, l. 21-App. 530, ll. 13; App. 534, ll. 10-12. Petitioner sustained defensive wounds on her hands and arms from where she attempted to avoid the knife Decedent was swinging at her. App. 530, ll. 7-13; App. 340, ll. 4-10. To protect herself, Petitioner grabbed a glass vase that was full of the Decedent's urine<sup>2</sup> and swung it at him. The two continued to fight, he with a knife and her with a vase, until they both fell to the floor and the vase broke. At that point Petitioner got up, grabbed the remainder of her clothing, and left the trailer. When Petitioner fled from the Decedent's trailer, the Decedent was on his hands and knees, still yelling that he was going to kill her. App. 530, l. 17-App. 531, l. 19; App. 534, l. 1-App. 536, l. 22.

Petitioner thought that she had struck the Decedent five or six times in the head with the vase prior to it breaking but was not sure. Petitioner maintained that she only grabbed the vase to defend herself against the Decedent's attack with the knife, that she was scared for her life, and that she did not feel she had any other option than to strike the Decedent with the vase. App. 534, ll. 20-App. 537, ll. 10. After she left the Decedent's trailer, she went back to Richardson's house and then called for Moses Warren to come pick her up. Both Richardson and Warren testified that Petitioner admitted to getting in a fight that night but that she did not offer any details about the event. Additionally, both men testified that they noticed marks or scratches on

---

<sup>2</sup> At trial Petitioner testified she had noticed the vase because it was pretty but could not determine what was inside of it. When she asked the Decedent, he stated that it was urine. When she asked why he peed in a vase he stated because he did not want to go to the bathroom to relieve himself. This was not typical behavior of the Decedent. App. 531, ll. 5-11

Petitioner. At trial, Warren confirmed he picked up Petitioner from the side of the road in the rain and took her to his home. Once there, he told Petitioner to shower so that she could warm up, and he noted that “she had all these blue marks on her, looked like somebody was throwing her around or knocking her out or something.” He stated the marks were on Petitioner’s arms, back, and legs. App. 421, l. 12-App. 422, l. 3; App. 439, l. 10-App. 442, l. 7.

*PCR Testimony*

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified that her claim had always been consistent, that she had been acting in self-defense, and that the Decedent was alive when she left his house. She confirmed that she had discussed the events of the incident with her lawyers many times. App. 799, ll. 4-20; App. 802, l. 20-App. 803, l. 7; App. 811, ll. 16-25. However, Petitioner did not remember talking with her attorneys about pursuing an immunity hearing and stated that she did not know such a thing existed, so she did not ask them about it. App. 807, ll. 15-22; App. 809, ll. 5-7.

Counsel Bank testified that the case was assigned to him and as trial drew near, he brought in Counsel Goode and Counsel Bailey to assist him with the defense of Petitioner. He stated they had discussed the case many times, and he felt that Petitioner was always honest in her answers with him. He further testified that they had committed to asserting self-defense early-on in the case. App. 812, ll. 20-25; app. 815, ll. 3-25. Counsel Bank could not recall having a specific discussion with Petitioner about pursuing immunity under the Protections of Persons and Property Act (the Act). He did not have anything in his case file notes concerning the matter. He stated,

I don’t remember anything specifically other than just my general knowledge of the 30(b) (ph) statute in South Carolina. My first concern would probably be whether it was a place that she had a right to be, but I think it would

have been. This was a place that she was invited into not only this night but regularly. So, I think it's definitely something that could have been explored.

He further clarified that it was his understanding that pursuing an immunity hearing pre-trial would not prevent him from asserting a claim of self-defense at trial. App. 816, ll. 4-22. When questioned by the State, Counsel Bank confirmed he was aware of the Act and that he could not recall a specific reason, "other than kind of typical pros and cons you do in any case" as to why he did not pursue an immunity hearing in Petitioner's case. App. 823, ll. 11-23.

Counsel Goode testified that she was technically the second chair during Petitioner's trial. She handled the opening statement and some of the crime scene witnesses. App. 828, ll. 8-10. She also testified she worked with Petitioner to prepare her for testifying at trial. App. 829, l. 17-App. 830, l. 8. Counsel Goode was not asked about whether they discussed pursuing an immunity hearing. Counsel Bailey stated he was brought in as third chair to assist and supervise as Counsel Bank was "still pretty new" as a lawyer, and he believed this was his first murder case. He testified that he did not think they discussed seeking immunity in Petitioner's case, and he did not recall having an immunity hearing in Petitioner's case. App. 834, ll. 4-22.

### **Discussion**

The PCR court incorrectly found that trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel. At no point during the PCR hearing did counsel articulate a valid strategy for failing to pursue immunity under the Act. In the order of dismissal the PCR court misconstrued Counsel Bank's testimony taking his statements of what he *should have done* as what he did do. The testimony of Counsel Bank, Counsel Bailey, and Petitioner made it evident that an immunity hearing under the Act was neither fully considered nor discussed, and there was no valid strategy offered to excuse such a failure.

“The Sixth Amendment guarantees every criminal defendant the reasonably effective assistance of counsel.” Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 379, 798 S.E.2d 561, 566 (2017) citing U.S. CONST. amend. VI; Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 683, (1984). “The benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result.” Strickland at 686 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, “the defendant must show that counsel’s performance was deficient” and “that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.” Id. “When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel’s assistance, the defendant must show that counsel’s representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Id. at 687-688. “[T]he performance inquiry must be whether counsel’s assistance was reasonable considering all the circumstances.” Id. at 688. Concerning prejudice, “a defendant need not show that counsel’s deficient conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case.” Rather, “[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome.” Id. at 694.

Our Supreme Court has held that trial counsel’s decision to employ a certain strategy will not be found to be deficient performance *if counsel articulates a valid reason for employing the strategy*. Stone v. State, 419 S.C. 370, 384, 798 S.E.2d 561, 569 (2017) (emphasis added). “The necessary converse of this principle is that counsel’s decision to employ a certain strategy will be deemed unreasonable under the Sixth Amendment if the reasons given for the strategy are not sound.” Id.

The PCR court found that counsel for Petitioner was not ineffective in failing to pursue an immunity hearing because Counsel Bank considered the relevant factors of the Act and decided to instead focus on asserting self-defense at trial. There was no testimony or evidence in the record to support that finding. What Counsel Bank testified to was that he did not recall having discussions with Petitioner or his co-counsel about an immunity hearing, that he had no notes regarding discussions about an immunity hearing, and that his first concern *if he would have considered a hearing* probably would have been whether the Decedent's home was a place Petitioner had the right to be. App. 816, ll. 4-19. Further, neither Counsel Bailey nor Petitioner had any recollection of discussing pursuing immunity from prosecution under the Act.

The PCR court further found Counsel Bank's failure to file for immunity pursuant to the Act was not deficient performance by ruling that he had articulated a valid strategy of focusing on self-defense. However, again, there was no evidence or testimony in the record to support that finding. Notably, Counsel Bank testified a hearing under the Act was "something that *could* have been explored." He confirmed that he understood he could have pursued immunity from prosecution under the Act and *still asserted self-defense at trial*. App. 816, ll. 20-22. At no point did he, or anyone else, testify that there was an affirmative decision to forgo a hearing under the Act to focus on self-defense at trial.

Even if there had been some affirmative decision to forgo a hearing and focus on self-defense, Counsel Bank was still required to articulate a valid reason for *not* pursuing immunity under the Act. While there are no appellate court decisions on this matter in South Carolina, the Supreme Court of Georgia has found that counsel was not ineffective for failing to file for immunity when counsel *explicitly stated* that the reason for not pursuing pretrial immunity was to avoid exposing the defendant to pre-trial cross examination from the State. Dent v. State, 810

S.E.2d 527 (Ga. 2018). Unlike the clear reasoning stated in Dent, the record in the matter *sub judice* is utterly devoid of any strategic reasoning for failing to file for a hearing under the Act.

Although the merits of Petitioner's immunity claim are not the subject of this appeal, in the return to the original petition for writ of certiorari the State asserted that this Court could affirm the PCR court's findings because the Act did not apply to Petitioner. Specifically, the State asserted that Petitioner was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the incident which barred her from claiming immunity and that inconsistencies between the testimony of Petitioner and the blood spatter evidence made it unlikely that a court would grant Petitioner immunity. These arguments, unsupported by any authority, are unpersuasive.

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The General Assembly explained its intent was to "codify the common law Castle Doctrine which recognizes that a person's home is his castle and to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person's place of business." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). The General Assembly found it "proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B). The General Assembly recognized "that persons residing in or visiting this State have a right to expect to remain unmolested and safe within their homes, businesses, and vehicles." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(D). Finally, the General Assembly explained "that no person or victim of crime should be required to surrender his personal safety to a criminal, nor should a person or victim be required to needlessly retreat in the face of intrusion or attack." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(E).

To effectuate this intent, the General Assembly created a statute providing for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A). Our Supreme Court explained that “another applicable provision of law” found within the Act “includes the common law of self-defense.” State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019). Further, the Court held that “[a] claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013).

“This means a defendant may seek immunity from prosecution under the Act by ‘demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by the preponderance of the evidence.’” Glenn, 429 S.C. at 18, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (internal quotation omitted). “Accordingly, a trial court should first consider whether the defendant has proved the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence. If the defendant has failed to meet the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the court should then determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable.” Id.

The Act provides:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

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