RECEIVED

Jan 03 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

CERTIORARI TO RICHLAND COUNTY
Robert E. Hood, Trial Judge
Brian M. Gibbons, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-000846

HOLLY JO THOMPSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR court properly found trial counsel was not ineffective for not requesting a pretrial immunity hearing when (1) Petitioner’s testimony was inconsistent with the forensic evidence, making it not reasonably likely a trial court would have granted immunity, and (2) evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that counsel was not deficient because counsel testified he engaged in a pro/con analysis when deciding whether to pursue immunity.

Petitioner asserts the PCR court erred in denying relief when trial counsel “inexplicably failed to pursue a pre-trial immunity hearing under the Protection of Persons and Property Act.” (Pet. 8-10). She contends evidence does not support the PCR court’s finding that counsel articulated a valid strategy of focusing on self-defense. (Pet. 8-9). However, probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that counsel was not deficient because counsel testified he engaged in a pro/con analysis when deciding whether to pursue immunity. Further—and critically—Petitioner cannot show prejudice because Petitioner’s testimony was inconsistent with the forensic evidence, making it not reasonably likely a trial court would have granted immunity.

“There is a strong presumption trial counsel provided adequate assistance.” Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 192, 569 S.E.2d 318, 322 (2002). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, an applicant must show counsel was deficient, and that deficiency prejudiced the applicant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). In other words, “the applicant must show trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result at trial would have been different.” Green, 351 S.C. at 192, 569 S.E.2d at 322. “A reasonable probability is one sufficient to undermine confidence in the trial's outcome.” Id.

The General Assembly enacted the Protection of People and Property Act (the Act²) to

² S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410 to -450.

codify the common law Castle Doctrine. State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 372, 752 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2013). “Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity.” Id. at 371, 752 S.E.2d at 266. “This includes all elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.” Id.

“[T]he legislature intended defendants be shielded from trial if they use deadly force as outlined under the Act.” State v. Duncan, 392 S.C. 404, 410, 709 S.E.2d 662, 665 (2011). Thus, upon motion, the issue of immunity under the Act must be decided prior to trial. Id. A party seeking immunity under the Act must show entitlement to immunity by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. at 411, 709 S.E.2d at 665. Common law self-defense has four elements:

First, the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty. Second, the defendant must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was in such imminent danger. Third, if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. If the defendant actually was in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life. Fourth, the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in this particular instance.

State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 116, 838 S.E.2d 491, 495 (2019)

The Act sets forth two statutory presumptions:

(A) A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully and forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle,

or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful or forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

(B) The presumption provided in subsection (A) does not apply if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used has the right to be in or is a lawful resident of the dwelling . . . ; or

...

(3) who uses deadly force is engaged in an unlawful activity or is using the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle to further an unlawful activity

(C) A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person

§ 16-11-440.

A. Petitioner’s testimony was inconsistent with the forensic evidence, making it not reasonably likely a court would have granted immunity.

Petitioner cannot show prejudice from trial counsel’s failure to request a pretrial immunity hearing because it is not reasonably likely a court would have granted immunity.³ Initially, Petitioner contends, “Under a preponderance of the evidence standard, it is not unreasonable to find that a court would grant immunity based upon these facts.” (BOP 15). However, the Strickland standard of prejudice requires a Court to find that but for an alleged deficiency, there is

³ The State acknowledges the PCR court did not make any finding of prejudice related to this issue in its Order. However, this Court can affirm for any reason appearing in the record.

a reasonable probability the result of the proceeding would be different. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. In other words, the proper question is, “If counsel had requested a pretrial immunity hearing, is there a reasonable probability the circuit court would have granted immunity?” This is different than the standard articulated by Petitioner, which would assess whether it would be unreasonable for *any* court to grant immunity.⁴ Cf. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693 (“It is not enough for the defendant to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding. Virtually every act or omission of counsel would meet that test, and not every error that conceivably could have influenced the outcome undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding.” (internal citation omitted)).

Petitioner also asserts that the determination of whether a court would grant immunity is best made at the trial court level. Although credibility is generally best assessed by a trial court, here, where Petitioner’s testimony about what occurred is so blatantly refuted by the forensic evidence, and where a jury found the State *disproved* self-defense *beyond a reasonable doubt*, the appellate court can conclude that it is not reasonably likely a circuit court judge would have found Petitioner proved self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.⁵

At trial, Petitioner admitted she was at Victim’s home smoking crack and attempting to

⁴ Although not the proper standard, Respondent submits that given the blatant discrepancies between Petitioner’s testimony and the forensic evidence, it would be unreasonable for *any* court to grant Petitioner immunity.

⁵ Although “preponderance of evidence” is a less-stringent standard than “beyond a reasonable doubt,” it is critical to remember *who* has the burden of proof. At a pretrial immunity hearing, a *defendant* has the burden of proving immunity by a preponderance of evidence. In contrast, at trial when a defendant raises self-defense, the *State* has the burden of *disproving* self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. It is more difficult to disprove a fact beyond a reasonable doubt than it is to prove a fact by a preponderance of the evidence. Here, the State met the more-stringent burden of disproving self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt. If the State met that burden, it strains credibility to suggest that if the burden—albeit a lower one—shifted to Petitioner (as it would in a pretrial immunity hearing), it is reasonably likely a judge would grant immunity.

engage in prostitution. She claimed Victim became angry when he could not get an erection; she went into the living room to get her clothes, and Victim followed her and began swinging a crack knife at her. According to Petitioner, they were in the living room when this occurred. She denied that any fighting occurred in the bedroom. (App. 522-38).

In contrast, Stan Richards, an expert in bloodstain pattern analysis, opined the incident began in the bedroom and ended in the living room. (App. 288). He based this opinion on the fact the bedroom contained a smaller amount of blood, signaling the beginning of the blood-letting event. (App. 288-89). Richards testified the volume of blood increased as it moved down the hall away from the bedroom. (App. 289). He testified the area around the glass shards in the hallway contained an increased amount of blood, which was consistent with Victim being “stationary for a little while.” (App. 289, 292).

Based on Richards’ testimony, the forensic evidence showed (1) a blood-letting event began in the bedroom and (2) the volume of blood increased as it moved down the hall. This starkly contrasts Petitioner’s version of events. Petitioner denied any fighting occurred in the bedroom; rather, she claimed the fighting all occurred in the living room, where Victim’s body was ultimately discovered. (App. 530-38).

The State’s theory was that Petitioner attacked Victim in the bedroom. This was supported by the bent knife investigators found in the bedroom that contained Victim’s blood. Petitioner’s description of the fight is inconsistent with the forensic evidence, making unlikely a trial court would have found her testimony credible.⁶ Likewise, it is not reasonably likely a circuit court judge would have found that Petitioner’s testimony established by a preponderance of the evidence

⁶ Respondent acknowledges that conflicting evidence alone is not a reason to deny immunity. However, due to the stark contrast between Petitioner’s testimony and the forensic evidence, it is not reasonably likely a judge would find her testimony credible.

that she was without fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Additionally, Petitioner's testimony that she ran out the front door was contradicted by testimony that the front door was locked but the back door was open when Victim's body was discovered. (App. 101-02). Further, blood spatter evidence showing an impact occurred *below* waist level along with the relative size of Victim and Petitioner (who admitted she was shorter than Victim) shows Petitioner continued to beat Victim *while he was on the ground*. (App. 294-95). Cf. State v. Chhith-Berry, 437 S.C. 527, 544, 878 S.E.2d 352, 361 (Ct. App. 2022) (affirming trial court's denial of immunity when defendant "testified that he stabbed Galloway once in the shoulder and that caused Galloway to fall off of Berry and stop fighting. Despite Chhith-Berry's testimony that Galloway stopped fighting after the first stab wound, Galloway sustained another twenty-four unaccounted-for stab wounds."). Due to the lack of credibility (based on the forensic evidence) in Petitioner's overall testimony, it is not reasonably likely a court would have found she proved by a preponderance of evidence that she had no other reasonable means of escape than to brutally beat Victim.⁷ Thus, it is not reasonably likely a circuit court would have granted immunity, and Petitioner cannot show prejudice.

Finally, the presumptions of the immunity statute do not apply. Initially, the presumption of subsection 16-11-440(A) does not apply because this incident occurred at Victim's home.

⁷ The brutality of the beating itself further illustrates why it is not reasonably likely a Court would have found by a preponderance of evidence that Petitioner had no other reasonable means of escape or that Petitioner reasonably believed her actions were necessary to prevent great bodily injury. Specifically, Victim had multiple blunt-force injuries on his head, including three on the right side, six on the upper back, two more lower down on the back of the head, and three toward the neck (App. 311-12); two sharp-force injuries on the back of the neck (App. 312); three blunt-force injuries and one sharp-force injury on his face (App. 313); two sharp-force injuries on his right lower chest (App. 318); a cluster of five sharp-force injuries on his left thigh (App. 318-19); seven sharp-force injuries on his right hand (App. 319); three sharp-force injuries on his right lower arm (App. 320); two sharp-force injuries on his right shoulder (App. 320); and nine sharp-force injuries on his left lower arm (App. 320).

§ 16-11-440(B)(1) (providing the presumption of §16-11-440(A) does not apply when the force is used against a lawful resident of the dwelling). Additionally, the presumption of subsection 16-11-440(C) should not apply because Petitioner was a guest in Victim’s home. See Curry, 406 S.C. at 374, 752 S.E.2d at 267 (“Under the Castle Doctrine, the absence of a duty to retreat does not extend to a visitor or social guest in the home of another unless “the attacker is an intruder.”). Likewise, neither presumption applies because the uncontradicted evidence showed Petitioner was engaged in unlawful activity at the time of the incident that *by her own testimony* proximately caused the fatal beating.⁸ Petitioner admitted to two unlawful activities she was engaging in at the time of this incident: prostitution and drug use. Because Petitioner was engaged in unlawful activity, the presumptions of subsections 16-11-440(A) and (C) would not apply. See § 16-11-440(B)(3) (providing the presumption of subsection 16-11-440(A) does not apply if the person using deadly force was engaged in unlawful activity); § 16-11-440(C) (providing “[a] person who **is not engaged in unlawful activity**” has no duty to retreat in certain circumstances (emphasis added)).

B. Evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that Petitioner did not prove counsel was deficient because counsel conducted a pro/con analysis when deciding not to pursue a pretrial immunity hearing.

Respondent acknowledges that pursuing pretrial immunity would not preclude pursuing self-defense at trial, and trial counsel testified a pretrial immunity hearing would not have precluded Petitioner from pursuing self-defense at trial. (App. 816). However, probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding that counsel was not deficient because counsel conducted a pro/con analysis when deciding not to pursue pretrial immunity. Specifically, when asked why they did not pursue pretrial immunity, counsel testified, “Sitting here today, I don’t specifically

⁸ According to Petitioner, she was engaging in prostitution and smoking crack with Victim.

remember anything regarding her case other than kind of typical pros and cons you do in any case. But, no, I don't remember anything specific in this case in terms of why we didn't do that." (App. 823). Based on this testimony, counsel *did* conduct a pro/con analysis when determining whether to request an immunity hearing. Because counsel conducted a pro/con analysis when determining whether to request an immunity hearing, Petitioner failed to meet his burden in overcoming the strong presumption that trial counsel rendered adequate assistance. See Taylor v. State, 404 S.C. 350, 360, 745 S.E.2d 97, 102 (2013) ("There is a strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment in making all significant decisions in a case."); Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) ("The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.").

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